

Examensarbeten

2018:4

Fakulteten för skogsvetenskap Institutionen för skogens ekologi och skötsel

How are riparian buffer zones around Swedish headwaters implemented?

- A case study



Anna Jonsson

Sveriges LantbruksuniversitetJägmästarprogrammetExamensarbete i biologi, 30 hp, avancerad nivå A2EISSN 1654-1898Handledare: Lenka Kuglerova, SLU, Inst för skogens ekologi och skötselExaminator: Marie-Charlotte Nilsson Hegethorn, SLU, Inst för skogens ekologi och skötsel

Umeå 2018



Examensarbeten

Fakulteten för skogsvetenskap Institutionen för skogens ekologi och skötsel

How are riparian buffer zones around Swedish headwaters implemented?

-A case study

Hur implementeras skyddszoner runt små vattendrag i Sverige? - En fallstudie

Anna Jonsson

Keywords / Nyckelord:

Riparian buffer zones, Sweden, small streams, forestry / *skyddszoner, Sverige, små bäckar, skogsbruk*

ISSN 1654-1898 Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences / Sveriges Lantbruksuniversitet Faculty of Forest Sciences / Fakulteten för skogsvetenskap Master of Science in Forestry / Jägmästarprogrammet Master degree thesis in Biology / Examensarbete i biologi EX0769, 30 hp, advanced level A2E / avancerad nivå A2E

Supervisor / Handledare: Lenka Kuglerova SLU, Dept of Forest Ecology and Management / SLU, Inst för skogens ekologi och skötsel Assistant supervisor / Bitr handledare: Hjalmar Laudon SLU, Dept of Forest Ecology and Management / SLU, Inst för skogens ekologi och skötsel Examiner / Examinator: Marie-Charlotte Nilsson Hegethorn SLU, Dept of Forest Ecology and Management / SLU, Inst för skogens ekologi och skötsel

Umeå 2018

2018:4

I denna rapport redovisas ett examensarbete utfört vid Institutionen för skogens ekologi och skötsel, Skogsvetenskapliga fakulteten, SLU. Arbetet har handletts och granskats av handledaren, och godkänts av examinator. För rapportens slutliga innehåll är dock författaren ensam ansvarig.

This report presents an MSc/BSc thesis at the Department of Forest Ecology and Management, Faculty of Forest Sciences, SLU. The work has been supervised and reviewed by the supervisor, and been approved by the examiner. However, the author is the sole responsible for the content.

Table of Contents

Abbreviations
Abstract 4
Sammanfattning
Introduction
Background
Regulations regarding riparian buffer zones7
Aim
Research questions
Material and Method 10
Study sites
Field - data collection
Stream mapping
Statistical analysis14
Riparian buffer widths and factors affecting it14
Tree type composition of canopy and sub-canopy15
Other structural components
Impairments
Results
Riparian buffer widths and factors affecting it
Tree type composition of canopy and sub-canopy19
Composition of canopy19
Composition of canopy in intact and partially harvested buffers
Composition of sub-canopy
Other structural components
Impairments
Discussion
Riparian buffer widths and factors affecting it
Tree type composition of canopy and sub-canopy
Composition of canopy

Composition of canopy in intact and partially harvested buffers	
Composition of sub-canopy	
Other structural components	
Impairments	
Conclusion	
Acknowledgements	
Litterature	
Appendix 1. Rapid Assessment Survey protocol	39

Abbreviations

RAS: Rapid Assessment Survey

SOSTPRO: Source Stream PROtection, collaboration project between Canada, Finland and Sweden.

WFD: Water framework directive

DEM: Digital elevation model

LMMs: Linear mixed effect models

GLMMs: General linear mixed effect models

PCA: Principal component analysis

I.I.: Impairment Index

END: Emulate Natural Disturbances

Abstract

Riparian zones are the transition zones between aquatic and terrestrial environments. They perform numerous important ecological functions. To protect these functions, keeping riparian buffer zones when performing forestry operations around streams is a commonly used practice. In this case study, I investigated how riparian buffer zones around 119 headwaters in northern and southern Sweden are implemented using Rapid Assessment Survey (RAS). I found that 11 % of streams had < 0.1 m wide buffer, 58 % had a buffer 0.1-5 m width, 26 % hade a buffer 5-15 m wide, and 5 % had a buffer wider than 15 m. Northern sites had significantly wider buffers than southern sites. Further, results indicated that neither size of the stream nor size of the clear-cut area influence which buffer width a stream would get. Tree type (coniferous/deciduous) composition of mature trees and saplings of retained buffers differed among buffer width categories and between southern and northern Sweden, and was to some degree a result of the forestry operations within buffers (selective logging). The results also supports that number of deadwood in the stream and shading of the stream are increasing, while the magnitude of impairments connected to forest operations are decreasing, with increasing buffer width. Knowledge of how Swedish headwaters are treated during forest operations, as demonstrated in this study, could help in assessing local effects on small streams due to forest operations as well as cumulative downstream effects on downstream reaches.

Sammanfattning

Den bäcknära zonen är övergångsområden mellan vatten- och landmiljö och den är värd för flera viktiga ekologiska funktioner. För att skydda dessa funktioner är det vanligt att lämna buffertzoner, remsor av träd vid vattendrag när skogsbruksåtgärder utförs. I denna fallstudie undersökte jag hur buffertzoner runt 119 små bäckar i norra och södra Sverige implementeras. Detta gjordes med hjälp av snabb utvärderings metod (RAS). Jag fann att, 11 % av bäckarna hade en buffertzon på <0.1 m, 58 % hade en buffertzon på 0.1-5 m, 26 % hade en buffertzon på 5-15 m och 5 % hade en buffertzon på >15 m. Studielokalerna i norra Sverige hade signifikant bredare buffertzoner än de i södra Sverige. Vidare indikerade resultatet på att varken storleken på bäcken eller storleken på kalhygget de flyter igenom verkar påverka vilken bredd buffertzonen ges. Trädtypssammansättning (barrträd/lövträd) av mogna träd och plantor skiljer sig mellan olika kategorier av buffertzons bredder. Resultaten visar också att mängden död ved i bäcken och skuggningen av bäcken ökar, medan mängden störningar direkt och indirekt kopplade till skogsbruk minskar med ökande bredd på buffertzonen. Kunskap om hur svenska små bäckar behandlas vid skogsbruksåtgärder, som i denna studie, kan bidra till att bedöma lokala effekter av skogsbruk på små bäckar samt kumulativa effekter på nedströms vattendrag.

Introduction

Background

Riparian zones are the transition zones between aquatic and terrestrial environments and are situated along the edges of all waterbodies. It has been well documented that these areas sustain important ecological functions (Naiman and Décamps 1997). For example, riparian zones along streams and rivers are important habitat for many species (Gundersen et al. 2010), they help avert excessive amounts of fine sediment and nutrients delivered from adjacent uplands with surface flow and groundwater (Hill 1996; Kreutzweiser and Capell, 2001), riparian trees and shrubs shade streams to prevent rising water temperatures (Gomi et al. 2006; Johnson and Almlöf 2016), their roots increase bank stability (Beeson and Doyle 1996) and they provide subsidies for aquatic organisms in form of leaf litter and other debris (Hoover et al. 2011).

Given that riparian forests have such high importance for the stream integrity, the complete removal of riparian trees through harvesting can cause large negative impacts (Sweeney and Newbold 2014) such as nutrient leakage (Löfgren et al. 2009), reduced amount of leaf litter to stream (Hoover et al. 2011), increased water temperatures (Gomi et al. 2006) and decreased biodiversity (Dupuis and Steventon 1999; Hylander and Gothner 2004). In addition to the negative effects related to removal of forest canopy, driving with heavy forest machines within riparian zones when performing different cutting operations can also result in negative consequences such as diverged flow paths (Ågren et al. 2015), bioaccumulation of methyl mercury (Garcia and Carignan 2015), nutrient leakage (Futter et al. 2010) and soil erosion causing sediment transport (Kreutzweiser and Capell 2001). Moreover, other forestry operations such as stump harvest and site preparation can increase total mercury and methylmercury levels in runoff (Eklöf et al. 2012). The magnitude of these impacts may differ depending on the environmental characteristics of the site and the execution of forestry operations.

This is why leaving strips of forests around streams when harvesting (from now on referred to as riparian buffer zones or simply buffers), is a commonly used management practice in today's forestry (Richardsson et al. 2012). To create functional riparian buffer zones that provides various desired functions, described above, has been a challenge for both researchers and practitioners. The width, structure and composition of the forest creating the buffers, together with site characteristics, such as topography and surface and subsurface water flowpaths affect the functionality of the buffers (Valett et al. 2002; Hoover et al. 2011; Sweeney and Newbold 2014; Bilby and Heffner 2016). These are important factors to consider when establishing riparian buffer designs (Kuglerová et al. 2014).

The general picture in many countries is that lakes and larger streams and rivers that are fishbearing, receive most protection in form of a forested riparian buffer zones (Swanson and Franklin 1992). Small headwaters (1st-2nd order streams, *sensu* Strahler 1957) are often being compromised during buffer allocation and their buffers are either thin or completely missing (Kuglerová et al. 2017). Reasons for this are numerous, for example small streams are numerous across the forested landscapes and retaining riparian buffers along all of them would impose a large economic pressure for the forest owners. Further, small streams are difficult to visually locate during late-spring operations since they might be under snow cover, and they have been inadequately mapped in the past (Ågren et al. 2015). Finally, the importance of small streams on both local and downstream scales has been little appreciated by foresters in the past.

Regulations regarding riparian buffer zones

The EU water framework directive (WFD, 2000/60/EC), that was adopted in 2000, state that all waters within the European Union should achieve good ecological and chemical status by 2027 with no further degradation acceptable. Since forestry operations influence aquatic environments, regulating policies are of large importance in order to reach the goals set up by WFD. Different countries have different policy approaches and degree of prescriptiveness regarding delineation of riparian buffer zones and regulation of forestry operations within those zones. For example, in United States and Canada a summarizing study on jurisdictions regarding riparian management guidelines and regulations stated that the average requirement of buffer width around small streams was 19.9 m and 29.6 m, respectively (Lee et al. 2004). In contrast, Ring et al. (2017a) found that specified buffer width requirements varied between 1 m to 5 km, when exploring differences in national policies (both mandatory by laws and voluntary obligations, such as forest certification schemes) concerning riparian buffers around surface waters for the Nordic countries, Estonia and Latvia. Latvia and Norway had specified buffer width requirements but instead voluntary guidelines and recommendations.

The current recommended rules and guidelines regarding establishment of riparian buffers in Sweden are to be found in a number of documents published mostly by the Swedish forest agency (Skogsstyrelsen 2015; Anon 2014) and in the Swedish Forestry Act (Skogsstyrelsen 2017) but can also be found in various other documents published by different governmental and non-governmental organizations (e.g. in forestry portal www.skugskunskap.se; Henriksson 2007; Ring et al. 2008; Barklund 2009). Hereafter follows a summary (freely translated from Swedish) of those guidelines and regulations that applies for both perennial and temporary watercourses.

- Damages caused by forest management should be prevented or limited on land and water.
- Area with trees and shrubs that is needed to prevent or limit adverse effects on adjacent environments, must be left when managing forest to the extent necessary for consideration of species, water quality and landscape image.
- In forest management, harmful nutrient leaks and harmful mud transport to lakes and rivers must be prevented, and water quality maintained or improved.
- When performing forestry measures around streams and lakes, one should keep trees, shrubs and other vegetation to keep following functions:
- Provide stable shade of the stream over time.
- Contribute food to aquatic organisms through falling leaves and insects.

- Contribute deadwood to the water.
- Act as a filter for sediment transport from upland and stabilize shoreline to prevent erosion.
- Preserve important soil chemical processes such as, denitrification and nutrient uptake.
- Preserve biodiversity.
- When establishing riparian buffers a long-term goal is to create buffers that are multilayered and uneven-aged with a composition of species that are suitable for the site.
- Partial harvest within buffers is occasionally recommended if other functions such as sufficient shading of the stream can be still maintained. For example, partial harvest of coniferous trees that can promote recruitment of deciduous trees is recommended in some cases.
- All deciduous trees within 10 meters from streams should be left in stands dominated by coniferous.

Further recommendations state that implementation of forestry operations around streams and lakes should be done according to following requirements:

- Serious driving damages, such as those that leads to export of sludge to lakes and streams, to changes in stretch flow paths or to damming of a watercourse, and to damages of peatlands adjacent to lakes and streams, should be prevented.
- No driving should be done in streams or discharge areas.
- No driving and ground damages that can lead to sludge transport into the water should be done within 10 m from streams
- If crossing of streams is necessary, use technical support such as permanent or temporary bridges. Entries and exits from the crossing should be protected, for example, by stock mats, excavator mats, pavement bridges or twigs.
- The bottom of the stream should not be damaged.

Policies are one important factor that determines how riparian buffers are being treated. However other factors, for example, forest ownership structure, forest stand structure (composition of commercial/non-commercial trees) and spatial-scale in management strategies, might also influence how buffers in practice are being designed. This is especially truth in countries where riparian buffers are allocated on voluntary basis. Finally, the consecutive decisions about buffers and other nature consideration measures can be made by practitioners at the time of the operations when they assessed the local conditions.

Over half of Sweden's surface is covered by productive forest land (Anon. 2017) and forestry is an important industry for the national economy (FAO 2014). Modern forestry has been executed on most parts of the country over more than a century and substantially transformed the landscape (Östlund et al. 1997). The abundance of small streams is high in the forest landscape of Sweden (Esseen et al. 2004, Bishop et al. 2008) and thus, small watercourses in Sweden have been under a lot of pressure. Disregarding small headwaters when planning and implementing protective measures causes negative impacts locally but may also incur in possible damaging effects further downstream, leading to cumulative impairments (Kuglerová et al. 2017). To keep functional riparian buffers when performing different forestry operations around streams and wetlands is therefore part of a vision shared by Swedish forest stakeholders (Skogsstyrelsen 2016). If and how this vision is being fulfilled is, however, up for debate (Olsson 2009; Skogsstyrelsen 2011).

Aim

There are general guidelines and recommendations existing in Sweden about how riparian buffers should be designed. Although, there is a limited information is available on the actual practices of Swedish forestry around small watercourses across large scales. Lack of knowledge on how small headwaters are managed in reality during forestry operations make it difficult to quantify the local effect of forestry operations on small streams and consequently the cumulative impacts on downstream reaches. This also hinder us to further develop and adapt forestry plans (should we find that current protection plans are not efficient enough) and to sustain good ecological status of Swedish waters. Therefore, the aim of this study was to perform such in-field evaluation across large number of small streams in the Swedish forest landscape.

Research questions

This study aims to quantify and qualify how riparian buffers around small streams are designed. Following objectives are answered:

- Are riparian buffers kept around small streams in the landscape during current forestry operations? How wide are the riparian buffers around small streams? Is the size of the riparian buffers affected by their location in Sweden, the size of the adjacent streams or the size of the clear-cuts they are situated in?

-How does the tree type (coniferous/deciduous) composition of riparian buffers differ with different buffer width? How does the composition differ between partially logged and intact riparian buffers? Do the existing buffers provide the targeted functions (i.e., shading and dead wood provision)?

- Is the width of the riparian buffer zone linked to the magnitude of other impairments caused by forestry operations within the riparian buffers?

Material and Method

Study sites

This study is part of a project SOSTPRO (SOurce STream PROtection), initiated as a collaboration between University of British Columbia (Canada), University of Oulu (Finland) and Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences (Sweden), funded through the EU project Water JPI (http://www.waterjpi.eu). The SOSTPRO project aims at addressing the cumulative effects of forestry around small streams on downstream ecosystems thought monitoring, field studies, experiments and modelling approaches. As a first step of the SOSTPRO project a rapid assessment survey (RAS, Appendix 1) was performed on a vast number of streams in the three countries to assess the current practices of forestry. The Swedish data from Västerbotten County (northern Sweden) and Jönköping County (southern Sweden) (Fig. 1) are used in this thesis.



Fig 1. Map of Sweden showing the location of streams sampled, 66 sites in the north and 53 sites in the south. Pie charts represent the number of streams surveyed in each buffer width category ('No' buffer <0.1 m, 'Thin' buffer 0.1-5 m, 'Moderate' buffer 5-15 m and 'Thick' buffer >15 m), based on random site selection (see methods).

To locate the study sites, spatial data on clear-cut blocks were received from three Swedish forestry companies in the north and one in the south Sweden. Clear-cut polygons were intersected with stream layer to locate stream segments flowing through recent clear-cuts in both regions. W. Lidberg at the Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences provided the stream layer. Size, i.e. catchment area, of streams included was set to $0.1 \text{ km}^2 - 15 \text{ km}^2$ and clear-cuts made between 2010 and 2016 was included in the study. To make fieldwork more effective, stream segments situated more than 200 meters from a road were excluded. During field visits sites which were evaluated by the field personnel as a ditch, too disturbed to measure (i.e., stream channel was missing due to extensive driving) or were completely missing were excluded. The rest of the streams that was examined were randomly selected from all the potential candidates created by intersecting small streams with recent harvest polygons and 200 m roads buffer (this yielded about 300 and 500 candidate stream segments in the south, north respectively). In total 119 streams, 66 in the north and 53 in the south of Sweden were examined (Fig. 1). All spatial analyses for site selection were done in RStudio (R Core Team 2017) by the PIs of the project.

Field - data collection

Field data were collected between June and August 2017 by two different field technicians in the south and north, all northern sites and 12 of the southern sites were examined by me. On each site a RAS protocol (Appendix 1) was performed which included data on riparian buffer configuration (buffer width and tree type [coniferous/deciduous] composition of mature trees and saplings), structural components of stream (shading and deadwood), and major impairments within the riparian buffer that were clearly linked to harvest operations (machine tracks, blow down trees, stream crossings, erosion, algae blooms and siltation, see Table 1). A number of other parameters was also sampled according to RAS (Appendix 1), but not used in this study.

Table 1. Variables from the RAS protocol used in this study, how they were used in statistical modeling (response or explanatory variable), how they were acquired or measured, and classification of each variable. RAS protocol was performed along a 50 m long reach at each site, which was further divided for some measurements.

Variable	Type of variable in statistical analyses	Measurement location	Classification
Buffer width	Response and explanatory	Visual estimation at three marks (10, 30, 50 m), left and right side of the stream separately.	Width of buffer (m)
Mature tree type composition within buffer (coniferous/deciduous)	Response	Visual estimation within 3 buffer sections (divided by the marks at 10, 30, and 50 m), left and right side of the stream separately.	Percent mature trees (%)
Saplings type (coniferous/deciduous) composition within buffer	Response	Visual estimation within 3 buffer sections (divided by the marks at 10, 30, and 50 m), left and right side of the stream separately.	Percent saplings, defined as saplings < 2 meter (%)
Stream size	Explanatory	Extracted with software Whitebox through flow accumulation values for each site sampled.	Catchment area (km ²)
Clear-cut size	Explanatory	Obtained from cutblock polygons in software ArcGIS.	Size of cut block, defined as adjacent polygons, harvested the same year and owned by the same company (km ²)
Shading of stream	Response	Visual estimation within 3 stream sections (divided by the marks at 10, 30, and 50 m)	Percent of the stream shaded (%)
Deadwood in stream	Response	Counted within 3 stream sections (divided by the marks at 10, 30, and 50 m)	Number of pieces, defined as >1 meter long and >10 cm diameter in the stream (#)
Machine tracks	Response	Visual estimation on the entire 50 meter section, within 30 m lateral distance on both sides of the stream.	No marks (0), Low - one or two shallow tracks (1), Medium - a few tracks, not too deep (2), Serious - numerous tracks within 30m from the stream or a few very deep tracks (3)
Blown down trees	Response	Visual estimation on the entire 50 meter section within 30 m lateral distance on both sides of the stream	No marks (0) , Low -1 or 2 trees blown down (1) , Medium - a few trees blown down (2), Serious - many trees blown down (3)
Stream crossings	Response	Visual estimation on the entire 50 meter stream section	No marks (0), Low - stream crossings with permanent bridge or culvert (1), Medium - stream crossing with temporal bridge (2), Serious - stream crossing present without a bridge (3)
Erosion	Response	Visual estimation on the entire 50 meter stream section	No marks (0), Low - <20 % of section length (1), Medium - 20-50 % of section length (2), Serious - > 50% of section length (3) had erosion marks.
Algae blooms	Response	Visual estimation on the entire 50 meter stream section	No marks (0), Low - <20 % of section length (1), Medium - 20-50 % of section length (2), Serious - > 50% of section length (3) had algae blooms.
Siltation	Response	Visual estimation on the entire 50 meter stream section	No marks (0), Low - <20 % of section length (1), Medium - 20-50 % of section length (2), Serious - > 50% of section length (3) had sediment deposition.

Sampling was performed on a 50 m long stream stretch along the most downstream part of each stream situated within each clear-cut. This part of the stream was chosen to capture the total effects (e.g., sedimentation, algae bloom due to warming of water) on the stream made by the clear-cut (Fig. 2). At three marks, that is 10, 30 and 50 meters upstream from the forest edge (0 mark), buffer width, tree type composition of mature trees and saplings was visually estimated as an average of each buffer section (section A-F, Fig. 2, Table 2). Number of dead wood pieces in the stream was counted and percent shading of the stream was estimated at three marks as an average of each stream section (section 0-10, 10-30, 30-50 m, Fig. 2, Table 1). Magnitude of impairments within the buffer was estimated as an average of both sides of the stream on the entire 50 meter stretch and 30 m lateral distance from the stream, irrespective of buffer width (G, H, Fig. 2), by scoring from no marks to serious (see Table 1). To separate sites that had a buffer which were partially harvested from the sites that had intact buffers, we noted marks of partial harvest (i.e., stumps) within buffers in the protocol.

Fig 2. Schematic picture of sample design. Different letter marks sections along the stream where different variables were sampled.



Stream mapping

Although a stream layer was initially used to localize the study sites, newer version of digital elevation model (DEM) and thus flow accumulation maps were available after the completion of the field surveys. Therefore I performed additional spatial analyses for each sampled stream. To acquire size of streams i.e. catchment area and to map the stream networks I used the size of the catchment area draining into a sampling site, both derived from a preprocessed DEM (2x2 resolution). To determine flow direction and flow accumulation values of each pixel a D₈

algorithm (O'Callaghan & Mark 1984) was applied on the pre-processed DEM. The flow accumulation raster with a flow initiation threshold value of 10 ha was used to generate a new vector layer of stream network on most of the area. However, some of the surveyed streams were not generated with this threshold. Flow initiation threshold value for those streams was then lowered so they could be mapped. The lowest threshold value used was 2 ha. The flow initiation threshold value 10 ha was originally used because 10 ha is considered to be threshold for streams flowing all year round in Swedish landscape (Ågren et al. 2014). The size of each stream (catchment area, km²) was calculated by extracting the flow accumulation value at each site where sampling was performed. A few manual corrections of the stream networks were made considering the field notes. All network analyses were performed in software Whitebox GAT (Lindsay 2016).

Size of clear-cuts was acquired using desktop ArcGIS (Esri Inc. 2016) by extracting size of each harvest polygon. A clear-cut was defined as all adjacent polygons, harvested the same year and owned by the same company.

Statistical analysis

In statistical analysis, buffer width was a continuous variable when it was used as a response variable (Table 1). When I used buffer width as an explanatory factor both continuous and a categorical scales were used. To categorize buffer width I converted the continuous widths into 4 categories (similar to Ring et al. 2017); that is 'no' buffer (0-0.1 meter), 'thin' buffer (0.1-5 meter), 'moderate' buffer (5-15 meter), and 'thick' buffer (>15 meter). When used as a continuous variable, average of the six measurements (section A-F, Fig. 2, Table 1) at each site was used.

Before statistical analyses, I assessed whether the data fulfill the assumptions necessary for statistical tests. Data on buffer widths, catchment areas, clear cut size, tree type (coniferous/deciduous) composition of mature trees and saplings were not normally distributed (Shapiro-Wilk test: p < 0.05), however any transformation (logarithmic, square-root, arcsine square-root) did not help the distribution. All other variables were normally distributed. All statistical analyses were made in RStudio (Rstudio team 2016), and packages *lme4* (Bates et al. 2015), *lmerTest* (Kuznetsova et al. 2017) and *lsmeans* (Lenth 2016) were chosen to overcome the problem of non-normal data and spatial grouping of sites (see below).

Riparian buffer widths and factors affecting it

First, Wilcoxon rank sum test was used to test whether there were general differences in buffer width between north and south. Further, because of the spatial non-independence of sites situated in the north and south, I chose to use linear mixed effect models (LMMs, Baayen et al. 2008) for testing whether size of the clear cut, and size of the stream affected the buffer width. In these models, buffer width was set as response variable, stream size and clear-cut size was set as a fixed factor, respectively. Location (south vs. north) was kept as a random factor.

Tree type composition of canopy and sub-canopy

When testing for potential differences in tree type composition for both mature trees and saplings within different buffer classes, separate models were constructed for northern and southern Sweden because of the observed difference in tree composition and buffer widths between the two locations during the field surveys.

To test for potential differences in composition of type (coniferous/deciduous) of mature trees in different buffer classes, LMMs were used. In these models, percent of mature trees of each type was set as a response variable and interaction between buffer class and type of tree (coniferous vs. deciduous) was set as a fixed factor. Site (because multiple counts were performed within each site in different sections, see Table 2) was kept as random factor. Buffer class 'No' was excluded from this analysis because no mature trees were present in 0-0.1 meter wide buffers.

To understand how the composition of tree types (coniferous/deciduous) changed between intact and partially harvested buffers, and to assess which type of trees that was harvested from the buffers (if partially harvested), I tested for differences in tree type (coniferous/deciduous) composition of mature trees in different buffer classes in respect to whether buffer was intact buffer zones or partially harvested (LMMs). Percent of mature trees was set as response variable while buffer class interacting with type of tree were kept as fixed explanatory variables. This analyses assumed that the composition of the buffers before harvesting was similar along all investigated streams (separately for north and south) which is a reasonable assumption given the large scale forestry practices (Ring et al. 2017b) and the size of the streams being small thus not having differently developed floodplains. Site was set as random factor and modelling was done separately for north/south and intact/partially harvested sites (Table 2).

I analyzed differences in composition (coniferous/deciduous) of saplings in the same way as mature trees except that buffer class 'No' was included because 0-0.1 m wide buffers still contained saplings. Further, I did not separate between partially harvested and intact buffers for the analyses of saplings.

Other structural components

When testing for relationship between buffer width and shading of stream, LMMs were used. In this model, shading (average of the three segments measured at each site, Table 1) was set as a response variable and buffer zone width (continuous) as a fixed factor. Location (south/north) was set as a random factor. Moreover, linkages between number of deadwood and buffer width was tested with general mixed effect models (GLMMs) with Poisson error distribution (because dead wood data were counts). For each site, I added the number of deadwoods of all three stream segments measured (Fig. 2, Table 1). The shading and deadwood analyses were made for all sites combined, with location within Sweden being a random factor, not fixed one. This is because I did not expect that how are trees shading and providing dead wood is dependent on the location within Sweden, rather being a function of the buffer width.

Table 2. Number of observations (n) of each variable divided by north/south and buffer class, if applicable. In total 66 streams in the north and 53 streams in the south was surveyed. In statistical modelling of the differences in tree type (coniferous/deciduous) composition of mature trees/saplings in different buffers classes, every site had six observations (n), one for each of the sections along the stream (Fig. 2). Given the differing number of streams within each buffer class (see Fig. 1) the number of observations for each variable tested in the statistical model also differ.

Variable	Buffer class	North (n)	South (<i>n</i>)
Clear-cut size	-	66	52
Catchment area	-	66	53
Mature trees	'Thin'	133	131
	'Moderate'	100	39
	'Thick'	45	7
Intact buffer	'Thin'	31	25
	'Moderate'	56	11
	'Thick'	24	3
Partially harvested buffer	'Thin'	102	106
	'Moderate'	44	28
	'Thick'	21	4
Saplings	'No'	84	110
	'Thin'	154	152
	'Moderate'	100	38
	'Thick'	45	7
Shading	-	66	53
Deadwood	-	66	53
Impairment index	-	66	51
РСА	'No'	8	5
	'Thin'	29	38
	'Moderate'	24	7
	'Thick'	5	1

Impairments

When investigating relationship between different impairments (machine tracks, blow down trees, stream crossings, erosion, algae blooms and siltation) and buffer width, scores (from 'no' marks [0] to 'serious' marks [3], see Table 1) for all the six impairments were summed together, creating an impairment index value (I.I.) for each site. To understand if impairments are more likely to occur when the buffer width decreases, I created a linear regression model between the I.I. and buffer width. Additionally, I also wanted to know if different impairments had a dependent relationship to each other (irrespective of buffer width), that is if they were more

likely to occur together at individual sites. To address this, I chose to perform a principal component analysis (PCA) with the scores of all six impairments. PCA is an ordination type analysis that project surveyed sites into an ordination space and place sites that have similar conditions spatially closer in the ordination space. To visualize the relation between impairments and how they correlate with the ordination axis, vectors for individual impairments were plotted onto the ordination space.

Results

Riparian buffer widths and factors affecting it

Mean buffer width around all streams sampled (n = 119) was 4.09 meter. 13 streams (11 % of the observations) had 'no' buffer zone (0-0.1 meter), 69 streams (58% of the observations) had a 'thin' buffer zone (0.1-5 meter), 31 streams (26 % of the observations) had a 'moderate' buffer zone (5-15 meter) and 6 streams (5 % of the observations) had a 'thick' buffer zone (>15 meter) (Fig. 1 & 3). Mean buffer width in the north was 5.46 meters, and in the south 2.39 meters and this difference was statistically significant (p < 0.001, Fig. 4A).



Fig 3. Histogram showing frequency of riparian buffer widths retained around small streams on clear-cuts in Sweden (north and south of Sweden combined).

Investigated streams had catchment areas ranging between 0.004 km² and 12 km², mean catchment area was 1.04 km². The size of clear-cuts with sampled streams flowing through it ranged between 0.0077 km² and 1.13 km². Mean area of clear-cut in the north was 0.222 km², and in the south 0.087 km² and this difference was statistically significant (p < 0.001, Fig. 4B).



Fig 4. A) Mean (± 1 SE) width of riparian buffer zone around small streams flowing through clear-cuts. B) Mean (± 1 SE) size of clear-cut with sampled small streams flowing through them. Results showed separately for northern (dark grey) and southern (light grey) Sweden. The differences between south and north were statistically significant (indicated by the asterix above the bars).

There was no trend visible in the data regarding the relationship between width of the buffer zone and stream size measured by the catchment area (p=0.24, Fig. 5, left panel). Similarly, no significant relationship between width of riparian buffer zones and size of clear-cuts could be detected (p=0.20), although, a slight increasing trend could be seen for southern sites (Fig. 5, right panel).



Fig 5. Scatterplot showing relationship between width of riparian buffer zone around small streams and catchment area of stream (i.e., stream size, left panel) and clear cut size (right panel), respectively. Explanatory variables are log transformed for better visibility. Data points are showed separately for northern (black) and southern (white) sites.

Tree type composition of canopy and sub-canopy

Composition of canopy

In northern sites, 'moderate' buffers and 'thick' buffers showed a significantly higher proportion of coniferous than deciduous trees ('moderate': estimate= 28.41, p<0.001, 'thick': estimate=36.72, p<0.001). In 'thin' buffers no statistically significant difference between the

proportion of mature coniferous and deciduous trees could be detected (Fig. 6, left panel). No significant differences in proportion of coniferous or deciduous mature trees could be detected with an increase of buffer width, although a slight increasing trend can be seen in the proportion of coniferous trees. In contrast, the proportion of deciduous trees had a tendency, albeit not significant, to be lower with increasing buffer width (Fig 6, left panel).

In southern sites the patterns observed were somewhat different compared to the northern sites. In 'thick' buffers there was a significantly higher proportion of deciduous than coniferous trees (estimate=55.29, p=0.04), however it has to be remembered that I only recorded 1 stream with 'thick' buffer in the south. No significant difference could be seen between coniferous and deciduous trees in 'thin' and 'moderate' buffers. Further, no statistically significant changes in the proportion of mature coniferous and deciduous trees were detected with increasing buffer width (Fig. 6, right panel).



Fig 6. Mean $(\pm 1 \text{ SE})$ percentage of mature trees per tree type (coniferous vs. deciduous) and buffer class, and shown separately for the sites in northern and southern Sweden. Differences (contrasts) were tested among buffer classes for the two types of trees separately (indicated but the different letters) but not among buffer classes for different type of trees (i.e., *A* and *a* do not indicate statistical significance). The statistical differences within each buffer class between the types of trees are indicated by the asterix.

Composition of canopy in intact and partially harvested buffers

When I split the data set into buffers that had been partially logged and buffers that had not, to assess how the canopy composition is affected by partial harvest, the results changed. Within intact buffers in northern sites, I found significantly higher proportion of coniferous trees in the 'thick' buffers compared to 'thin' (estimate= 25.10, p=0.002) and 'moderate' (estimate=18.28, p=0.024) buffers, while 'moderate' and 'thin' buffers didn't differ in respect to proportion of coniferous trees (Fig. 7B). Correspondingly the proportion of deciduous trees was significantly lower in 'thick' buffers compared to 'thin' (estimate=25.10, p=0.002) and 'moderate' (estimate=18.28, p=0.024) ones. Further, in northern intact buffers the proportion of coniferous trees was significantly higher than the proportion of deciduous trees in all buffer classes (Fig. 7A). In partially harvested buffers no such trend was detected either for coniferous or for deciduous trees nor between the two types of trees within buffer classes.

In southern sites, neither in intact nor partially harvested buffers any significant differences in coniferous or deciduous trees among the three buffer classes were detected. As opposed to partially harvested buffers, where no differences in the proportion of coniferous vs. deciduous trees within the individual buffer classes was detected (Fig. 7D), intact buffers had a significantly higher proportion of deciduous trees than coniferous trees in all three buffer classes (Fig. 7C).



Fig 7. Mean $(\pm 1 \text{ SE})$ percentage of mature trees in intact and partially harvested buffers. Percentages of trees are presented per type (coniferous and deciduous) for each buffer class and shown separately for northern and southern Sweden. Differences were tested among buffer classes for the two types of trees separately (indicated but the different letters) but not among buffer classes for different type of trees (i.e., *A* and *a* do not indicate statistical significance). The statistical differences within each buffer class between the types of trees are indicated by the asterix.

Composition of sub-canopy

In northern sites, 'no' buffer had significantly lower proportion of coniferous saplings than 'thin' buffers (estimate=12.16, p=0.048) and 'thick' buffers (estimate=22.37, p<0.001), whilst no significant difference in coniferous saplings could be detected between buffer classes 'no' and 'moderate'. Correspondingly, the proportion of deciduous saplings significantly increased from 'no' buffers to 'thick' buffers (estimate =17.07, p =0.016) while no significant difference in proportion of deciduous saplings could be detected between the other classes (Fig. 8, left panel). All buffer classes, except 'thick', had significantly higher proportion of deciduous than coniferous saplings.

In southern sites, there was no detectable statistical difference in the proportions of coniferous or deciduous saplings across the buffer classes. All buffer classes had, however significantly higher

proportion of deciduous than coniferous saplings, which was same result as for northern Sweden (Fig. 8, right panel).



Fig 8. Mean $(\pm 1 \text{ SE})$ percentage of saplings divided per type (coniferous vs. deciduous) and each buffer class and shown separately for northern and southern Sweden. Differences were tested among buffer classes for the two types of saplings separately (indicated but the different letters) but not among buffer classes for different type of saplings (i.e., *A* and *a* do not indicate statistical significance). The statistical differences within each buffer class between the types of saplings (coniferous vs. deciduous) are indicated by the asterix.

Other structural components

A significant positive relationship between buffer zone width and shading of stream was found (estimate=11.38, p=< 0.001, Fig. 11 left panel). Similarly, I found a significant positive relationship between buffer zone width and number of deadwood in the stream (estimate=0.15, P < 0.001, Fig. 11 right panel) although this trend was weaker than the one for shading (lower r²).



Fig 11. Scatterplots showing relationship between widths of buffer zone and shading of stream (left panel), and number of deadwood in stream (right panel). Buffer width is log transformed on the x axes for better visibility.

Impairments

The Impairment Index (I.I.) was created by summing up the scores for the six individual impairments measured at each site (machine tracks, blown down trees, stream crossings, erosion, algae, and siltation). With increasing buffer width, a statistically significant decrease of I.I. was

detected (estimate = -0.08, p <0.01), although, the fit of the model was poor (Fig. 12). This was mostly because of the numerous zero scores for three of the variables included in the I.I. (algae bloom, siltation and erosion).



Fig 12. Scatterplot showing relationship between impairment index (combined scores for machine tracks, blow down trees, stream crossings, erosion, algae blooms and siltation) and buffer width. Sites with higher impairment index has a higher amount of impairments.

In the PCA of the six impairment categories, the first two components explained 79 %. First axis explained about 53 % of the total variance and was strongly positively correlated with stream crossings (r= 0.96) and positively correlated (r= 0.23) with machine tracks (Fig. 13). The second axis, explained 26 % of the total variance and was strongly positively correlated (r = 0.97) with blow down trees and positively correlated (r = 0.2) with machine tracks (Fig. 13). Algae bloom, siltation and erosion had low correlations (r < 0.15) with both axis one and two, likely due to the large number of zeros in the data. The PCA ordination plots shows that the sites which were imparied by stream crossings and machine tracks were not likely the same ones which were impaired by blown down trees (Fig. 13).



Fig 13. Results of PCA-analysis for the six impairments within riparian buffer zones. Diagram displays vectors for the individual impairments (BDT=Blow down trees, Mtr=Machine tracks, SCr=Stream crossings, ER=Erosion, SILT=Siltation, ABI=Algae blooms) and how they scale with the PC axis. For better visualization I color coded sites based on their buffer width classification.

Discussion

To keep buffer zones around streams is one of the most effective way of protecting stream integrity and mitigating negative effects on water quality done by forestry operations (Lee et al. 2004; Gundersen et al. 2010; Richardsson et al. 2012). Today, recommendations and guidelines from the Swedish forestry agency are rigorous and provide a large amount of general as well as very specific information on how buffers should be designed to be functional (Skogsstyrelsen 2015; Anon, 2014). In this case study, I intended to assess what is the reality of buffer implementation along small headwater stream in contemporary forestry. I used a specifically designed Rapid Assessment Protocol (RAS) to achieve such evaluation.

Riparian buffer widths and factors affecting it

Regardless of recommended guidelines (Anon 2014; Skogsstyrelsen 2015; Skogsstyrelsen 2017) 11 % of streams surveyed had no mature trees left as buffer and most buffers (58%) were < 5meter wide. On the other hand, I also found buffers of about 30 meters width, which was far above the mean buffer width of 4.09 meters and generally above the recommended standards for small streams (e.g., Kuglerová at al. 2017; Ring et al. 2017a). According to the recommendation from the Swedish forestry agency, buffer zones "... are expected to provide stable shade over time, contribute with food and deadwood to water and act as a filter for sediment transport". Several previous studies suggest that buffer zones <5 m wide are not sufficient in obtaining all functions required (Castelle et al. 1994; Hickey and Doran 2004; Sweeney and Newbold 2004) On the other hand, latest research from Canada suggests that buffers could be thin or completely missing if the management goal is to emulate natural disturbances (END), such as fire or wind throw (Kreutzweisser et al. 2012; Musetta-Lambert et al. 2017). Similarly, some researchers are suggesting that variable buffer widths, based on hydrological conditions of riparian soils, can create thin buffers at some locations while keeping thick buffers on others (Kuglerová et al. 2014; Laudon et al. 2016; Kuglerová et al. 2017; Laudon and Sponseller 2017). These locally adapted buffers that consider soil characteristics in respect to hydrology has proven to be a more cost-effective alternative compared to fixed-width buffers (Tiwari et al. 2016). More research is however needed to understand how such novel buffers achieve the goals of protecting stream integrity and water quality on local as well as integrated catchment scale. The project SOSTPRO, which this thesis is part of, aims to fill exactly these knowledge gaps.

Size of the riparian buffers was significantly larger in the northern sites which indicates that location could be one factor deciding how riparian buffers are being established (Ring et al. 2017b). In the south, all clear-cuts surveyed was owned by the same forest company while northern sites was owned by three different forest companies, and this might have influenced the south and north differences. The differences in population densities and proportion of forest land between southern and northern Sweden, where southern Sweden has considerably higher population density and lower proportion of forest land than northern Sweden (Statistiska centralbyrån 2014) together with differences in land-use history (Östlund et al. 1997) can be part

of the explanation why southern buffers are significantly thinner than northern buffers. Further, streams surveyed in southern Sweden were situated on significantly smaller clear-cuts than in northern Sweden. Management scale, i.e. size of forest compartments, used for planning forestry operations might also have influenced the difference in buffer widths between south and north (Pohjanmies et al. 2017). I saw, at least for southern Swedish sites, that buffer width had a tendency to increase in larger clear-cuts (albeit not significant). On the other hand, size of clearcuts did not have any significant influence on buffer width in the spatial content of this study. This result suggests that size of the clear-cut is not a factor that plays a part when deciding on buffer design. Which factors, environmental but also social and economic, that are actually driving how forest management is carried out around streams are not well documented here or in other publications (but see González et al. 2017; or Lovell and Sullivan 2006 for agricultural buffers). Further investigation regarding this could be helpful on the way to improve forest management procedures. Finally, a possible source of error in the south-north analysis is that two different field technicians performed the inventories in southern and northern parts of Sweden which could create a subjective bias. Many of the relationships which are behind the observed differences between south and north are not uncovered in this thesis and will require further investigation.

The general picture today is that larger streams and rivers receive most protection in the form of forested buffer zones while small streams are being neglected (Kuglerová et al. 2017). Suggested reasons for this is that larger streams yield fish (Swanson and Franklin 1992), they are visible on maps used in forest management practices (Bishop et al. 2008), are easier to spot in the landscape when performing forestry operations, and they are fewer in numbers (Downing et al. 2012). Considering this, it is surprising that in this study I did not find support that size of the stream would matter when deciding the width of the buffer zone. My results show that stream size had no effect on buffer width. However, all streams included in this study are considered small and most of them could be lacking from standard resolution topographic maps (Ågren et al. 2015). The results might have been different if larger streams, with catchments areas up to 20 km², were included.

Tree type composition of canopy and sub-canopy

Composition of canopy

Canopy composition and structure of created riparian buffer zones has proven to be of importance for their functionality (Bilby and Heffner, 2016; Dewalle, 2010; Hoover et al., 2011). Swedish guidelines suggest that when creating buffers, one aim is to produce un-even aged and multilayered buffers that has a species composition that is suitable for the site. At the same time, it is suggested that both deciduous and coniferous species should be left standing (Anon. 2014). To explore how this goal is followed, information on what composition of trees that was there pre-harvest has to be accounted for. In this study, no such data were available. Instead, I accounted for study by Ring et al. (2017b) that investigated the composition of intact riparian

forests around small streams as an example on what are riparian forests in Sweden composed of. The results of this present study indicate that in the northern sites, there is a higher proportion of mature conifers and a lower proportion of deciduous mature trees with increasing buffer width. This is a similar pattern in canopy composition to what Ring et al. (2017b) found in Sweden and were also found in other regions (Pabst and Spies 1999; Harper and Macdonald 2001). Ring et al. (2017b) found that with increasing distance from streams a higher proportion of conifers and a lower proportion of deciduous trees was found. This suggest that the canopy composition of the northern sites buffers is similar to the composition of pre-harvest operations. Thus, it seems that the buffers which are left on the site are not being particularly designed according the goal of creating 'multilayered and un-even aged forests'. Instead, they are delineated only considering its width. In southern sites no change in proportion between mature conifers and mature deciduous trees between 'thin' buffers and 'moderate' buffers although 'thick' buffers had a significantly higher proportion of deciduous trees than conifers. This is in contrast to what was found in Ring et al. (2017b). They documented that riparian forests consisted of a higher proportion of conifer than deciduous trees also in southern Sweden, similar to northern Sweden. Our results combined with these of Ring et al. (2017b) implies that deciduous trees are being favored to be left when designing buffers in the south of Sweden. This in turn indicated that forestry practitioners favor logging of coniferous species, clearly due to the value of their timber (Anon. 2016). One thing which have to be kept in mind is that we had only limited number of observations in the 'thick' buffer category in the south of Sweden (n=7).

Composition of canopy in intact and partially harvested buffers

I tried to answer the question about what type of trees are preferred when harvesting within riparian buffers by assessing the differences between partially harvested and intact (no harvest) buffers. I found that in northern sites, intact buffers had an increase in proportion of conifers between 'moderate' and 'thick' buffers, while the proportion of deciduous trees decreased. This is a similar trend in canopy composition to what Ring et al. (2017b) found in unharvested riparian forests along a lateral gradient from streams. I found that partially harvested buffer zones had no such change in canopy composition with increasing buffer width. This result indicates that when partial harvest within buffers are performed in northern Sweden, deciduous trees are being left to a higher extent then conifers. This is in line with recommendations set by the Swedish forest agency which state that all deciduous trees within 10 meter from streams should be left in stands dominated by conifers and that partial harvest is an allowed strategy. A trend observed in the results (although not statistically tested for), indicated a somewhat higher proportion of deciduous trees in the partially harvested than intact buffers. This is interesting and could be an indication that buffers consisting of more deciduous trees pre-harvest, for example wetter areas that host more deciduous trees and in general consist of less commercial valuable trees, are more likely to be partially harvested than buffers with more coniferous trees.

In southern sites, intact buffers had a higher proportion of deciduous trees than conifers in all buffer classes whilst partially harvested buffers had no detectable difference between conifers

and deciduous trees in any of the buffer classes. Therefore it seems that when partial harvest is being performed within buffers in south of Sweden conifers are being left to a higher extent then deciduous trees. Yet again, the low number of observations in buffer category 'thick' (intact: n=3, partially harvested: n=4) and 'moderate' (intact: n=11, partially harvested: n=28) in both intact and partially harvested buffers makes the result less general.

Composition of sub-canopy

In northern Sweden, sites in category 'no' buffer had significantly lower proportion of conifer saplings and higher proportion of deciduous saplings than 'thick' buffers. One reason for this could be the difference in light conditions and level of disturbance between sites with 'no' buffers and sites with 'thick' buffers. Increased solar input and disturbance (e.g. no buffers) are promoting regeneration of early successional and shade-intolerant species such as deciduous trees while less solar input and disturbance (e.g. thick buffers) are endorsing regeneration of shade-tolerant species for example conifers (Palik et al. 2012; Mallik et al. 2014). In southern sites, all buffer classes had a significantly higher proportion of deciduous saplings than coniferous. No difference in composition of saplings could be detected between different buffer classes. Due to the low number of observations in the 'thick' buffer category (n=7), results regarding these are less reliable. It is likely that with increased number of sites sampled with 'thick' buffers similar pattern to northern Sweden might have been detectable. Regardless, the composition of sub-canopy in southern Sweden corresponded well with the composition of canopy in intact buffers and is probably a result of seed source.

Since the majority of Sweden's forests have been exposed to forestry operations it is clear that humans play a crucial role in determining the composition of future riparian forests (Östlund et al. 1997). Several studies have concluded that the complexity in structure and composition of riparian forest follows a spatial lateral gradient from the stream edge into the uplands (Pabst and Spies 1999; Harper and Macdonald 2001; Ring et al. 2017b). When designing and delineating the zone appropriate for protection to achieve desired functions, it is clear that this gradient and characteristics of the natural riparian forests need to be considered in all forest operations carried out around streams.

Other structural components

This study shows a significant positive relationship between buffer zone width and shading of stream. To provide stable shade of the stream over time is one of the functions that should be achieved according to the recommendations of the Swedish forest agency (Anon 2014). Shading is an important aspect of riparian canopies because it prevents increased light levels as well as warming up the stream water. Headwater streams are especially sensitive to these changes because their canopies are usually fully closed, due to their small widths (Richardson and Danehy 2007). Several streams surveyed in this study had no trees left as buffer or buffers < 5m wide. According to several previous studies this is not enough shading to ensure stream temperature not to rise (Gomi et al. 2006; Wilkerson et al. 2006; Sweeney and Newbold, 2014).

When stream temperature rises and more light is available, this can be detrimental for some coldwater and shade adapted species (Warren et al. 2016). At the same time, I found that riparian forests along small streams in boreal Sweden had higher proportion of commercial coniferous tree species (spruce and pine), at least in the north. These types of trees have a large shading potential and provide low-quality resource subsidy for stream organisms. Opening of canopy can promote regeneration of deciduous trees, as I showed with the sapling data. The deciduous tree species generally provide subsidies of higher quality for aquatic consumers (Lidman et al. 2017). Further, some increment of light penetration through the closed canopy above small streams can support organisms with higher light level demand yet will not eliminate shade-adapted species either (Mallik et al. 2013). Thus, the riparian forests can benefit from some level of intervention and locally 5 m width may be sufficient. However, assessment of how much of the total stream length can be exposed to increased solar input has to be done to prevent the risk of increased water temperatures.

Further, recommendations also state that riparian buffers should be designed to contribute with deadwood to stream (Anon. 2014). In this study a significant positive relationship was found between the amount of deadwood in streams and buffer width. In contrast to leaves that can blow over distances and get trapped in streams, deadwood which falls directly into the streams is delivered primarily by the closest trees (Harper and Macdonald 2001; Bilby and Heffner 2016). Deadwood is important due to its role in contributing with dissolved organic carbon to streams and thereby play a vital role in support of stream food webs (Richardson and Danehy 2007), affecting width of the channel and creating dams and pools which provide habitat for fish and other aquatic organisms (Bilby and Bisson 2001). To leave mature trees directly adjacent to streams is therefore important to ensure deadwood contribution and clearly this function is provided more when buffers are wider.

Impairments

Results of this study showed a negative relationship between magnitude of combined impairments and width of riparian buffers. This relationship was not very strong ($r^2=0.06$) due to the nature of the data (i.e., scores) yet it did indicate that creating a wider buffer zone can reduce the amount of direct (machine tracks, stream crossing) and indirect (blow down trees, algae growth, sedimentation and erosion) impairments caused by cutting operations. One reason why linkage between magnitude of impairments and buffer width is weak might be that width of the buffer is not the only factor determining how effective buffers turns out to be in minimizing negative forestry effects. Recent studies have shown that to prevent impairments caused by forestry, especially the ones related to soil damages, factors such as soil wetness, topography and surface and subsurface water flow paths also has to be considered when planning and executing operations (Kuglerová et al. 2014; Ågren et al. 2014; Laudon et al. 2016). One interesting finding in this thesis is that the PCA-analysis showed that sites which were impaired by stream crossings and machine tracks (i.e., driving damages) are less likely to have many blow down trees. A possible explanation for this could be that for a site to have blown down trees it is

required that trees were left as a buffer to start with, and this might in turn have made these sites less likely to have damages made by driving in originally left buffers. No conclusion regarding dependence between sites which were impaired by erosion, siltation or algae blooms can be done in this thesis since I had very low scores for these measurements. Nevertheless these effects are usually connected to forest harvest (Castelle et al. 1994; Sweeney and Newbold 2014) and will be addressed in the SOSTPRO project further.

Conclusion

This work has shown that there is an inconsistency on how riparian buffer zones are implemented around headwaters in Sweden today. The majority (69 %) of all streams surveyed had a buffer width < 5 m, which is argued by many to be insufficient to achieve all desired functions presented by the Swedish forestry agency. However, it is not only the width of the buffer that explains how functional it is. Up-to-date research implies that several other factors such as ground water flow paths and characteristics of natural disturbances should be taken into consideration when planning and performing forestry operations around streams. Including these aspects into planning and execution of all forestry operations around streams can help to mitigate other forestry effects, such as soil damages caused by rutting and stream crossings. I also found that the composition of riparian buffers is affected by partial harvesting and differs between different widths of created buffers. Knowledge on what trees are being left to form the riparian buffer zones is important to evaluate if desired functions of buffer zones are fulfilled and therefor one of the emphases of the present study. To be able to fully assess the local effects of forestry on small streams and the cumulative impacts on downstream reaches more field-based research on treatment effects needs to be performed and evaluated. Only after that the research can provide the best decision support system tools which the forest practitioners can utilize during planning and forestry operations.

Acknowledgements

This study is part of a project SOSTPRO (SOurce STream PROtection), initiated as a collaboration between University of British Columbia (Canada), University of Oulu (Finland) and Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences (Sweden), and funded through the EU project Water JPI (<u>http://www.waterjpi.eu</u>) by Swedish Research Council Formas (to L. Kuglerová). I would like to thank my supervisor, Lenka Kuglerová, for supporting me during my field work and helping me in the whole process of writing this thesis. Further, I want to thank the three forest companies providing me with useful data, Matti Ermold for his field work and William Lidberg for providing useful stream layers.

Litterature

Anonymous. (2014). Mark och vatten. Skogsstyrelsen. Available at: [https://www.skogsstyrelsen.se/globalassets/mer-om-skog/malbilder-for-god-miljohansyn/malbilder-kantzoner-mot-sjoar-och-vattendrag/hansyn-till-vatten-alla-faktablad-samlade-i-en-pdf.pdf]

Anonymous. (2016). Sveriges officiella statistik: statistiska meddelanden. Statistiska centralbyrån. Available at: [https://www.skogsstyrelsen.se/globalassets/statistik/statistiska-meddelanden/rundvirkespriser-jo0303/2016-rundvirkespriser-sm-jo0303.pdf]

Anonymous. (2017). Skogsdata 2017 Umeå: Sveriges officiella statistik. Institutionen för skoglig resurshushållning, Sveriges lantbruksuniversitet.

Baayen, R. H., Davidson, D. J. & Bates, D. M. (2008). Mixed-effects modeling with crossed random effects for subjects and items. *Journal of Memory and Language*, vol. 59, pp. 390–412.

Barklund, Å. (2009). The Swedish forestry model. Royal Swedish Academy of Agriculture and Forestry. Stockholm.

Bates, D., Maechler, M., Bolker, B. & Walker, S. (2015). Fitting Linear Mixed-Effects Models Using lme4. *Journal of Statistical Software*, vol. 67, pp. 1-48.

Beeson, C.E., & Doyle, P.F. (1996). Comparison of Bank Erosion at Vegetated and Non-Vegetated Channel Bends. *Water Resources Bulletin*, vol. 31, pp. 983-990.

Bilby R. & Bisson P. (2001). Function and distribution of large woody debris. I: Naiman, R. & Bilby, R. *River ecology and management*. New York: Springer-Verlag, pp. 324-346.

Bilby, R. E. & Heffner, J. T. (2016). Factors influencing litter delivery to streams. *Forest ecology and management*. vol. 369, pp. 29-37.

Bishop, K., Buffam, I., Erlandsson, M., Fölster, J., Laudon, H., Seibert, J. & Temnerud, J. (2008). Aqua Incognita: the unknown headwaters. *Hydrological Processes*, vol. 22, pp. 1239–1242.

Castelle, A. J., Johnson, A. W. & Conolly, C. (1994). Wetland and stream buffer size requirements—A review. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, vol. 23, pp. 878–882.

Dewalle, D. R. (2010). Modeling stream shade: Riparian buffer height and density as important as buffer width. *Journal of the American Water Resources* Association (*JAWRA*), vol. 46, pp. 323-333.

Dupuis, L. & Steventon, D. (1999). Riparian management and the tailed frog in northern coastal forests. *Forest ecology and management*, vol. 124, pp. 35-43.

Downing, J. A., Cole, J. J., Duarte, C. M., Middelburg, J. J., Melack, J. M., Prairie, Y. T., Kortelainen, P., Striegl, R. G., McDowell, W. H. & Tranvik, L. J. (2012). Global abundance and size distribution of streams and rivers. *Inland Waters*, vol. 2, pp. 229–236.

Eklöf, K., Kraus, G. A., Weyhenmeyer, M., Meili, M. & Bishop, K. (2012). Forestry influence by stump harvest and site preparation on methylmercury, total mercury and other stream water chemistry parameters across boreal landscape. *Ecosystems*, vol. 15, pp. 1308-1320.

Esri Inc. (2016). ArcGIS desktop: Release 10.5. Redlands, CA: Environmental systems reasearch institute.

Esseen., P. A., Glimskär, A., Ståhl, G. (2004). Linjära landskapselement i Sverige: skattningar från 2003-års NILS-data. Umeå. Sveriges lantbruksuniversitet. Arbetsrapport 127. Available at: [https://www.slu.se/globalassets/ew/org/centrb/nils/publikationer/publikationer2003-2009/arb_rapp_127.pdf]

FAO (2014). Contribution of the forestry sector to national economies, 1990-2011. Forest Finance Working Paper FSFM/ACC/09. FAO. Rome.

Futter, M. N., Ring, E., Högbom, L., Entenmann, S. & Bishop, K. H (2010). Consequences of nitrate leaching following stem-only harvesting of Swedish forests are dependent on spatial scale. *Environmental pollution*, vol. 158, pp. 3552-3559.

Garcia, E. & Carignan, R. (2005). Mercury concentrations in fish from forest harvesting and fireimpacted Canadian boreal lakes compared using stable isotopes of nitrogen. *Environmental toxicology and chemistry*, vol. 24, pp. 685–693.

Gomi, T., Moore, R.D. & Dhakal, A. S. (2006). Headwater Stream temperature response to clear-cut harvesting within different riparian treatments, coastal British Columbia, Canada. *Water Resources Research*, vol. 42, W08437.

González, E., Felipe-Lucia, M. R., Bourgeois, B., Boz, B., Nilsson, C., Palmer, G. & Sher, A. A. (2017). Integrative conservation of riparian zones. *Biological conservation*, vol. 2011, pp. 20-29.

Gundersen, P., Lauren, A., Finer, L., Ring, E., Koivusalo, H., Sätersdal, M., Weslien, J., Sigurdsson, B. D., Högbom, L., Laine, J. & Hansen, K. (2010). Environmental Services Provided from Riparian Forests in the Nordic Countries. *Ambio*, vol. 39, pp. 555-556.

Harper, K. A & Macdonald S. E. (2001). Structure and composition of riparian boreal forest: new methods for analyzing edge influence. *Ecology*, vol. 82, pp. 649-659.

Henriksson, L. (2007). Skogsbruk vid vatten. Skogsstyrelsen. Jönköping.

Hickey, M. B. C. & Doran, B. (2004). A review of the efficiency of buffer strips for the maintenance and enhancement of riparian ecosystems. *Water Quality Research Journal of Canada*, vol. 39, pp. 311–317.

Hill, A.R. (1996). Nitrate removal in stream riparian zones. *Journal of environmental quality*, vol. 25, pp. 743–755.

Hoover, T. M., Pinto, X. & Richardsson, J. S. (2011). Riparian canopy type, management history, and successional stage control fluxes of plant litter to streams. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, vol. 41, pp. 1394-1404.

Hylander, K., C, Nilsson & Gothner, T. (2004). Effects of buffer-strip retention and clear-cutting on land snails in boreal riparian forests. *Conservation Biology*, vol. 18, pp. 1052–1062.

Johnson, R. K., Almlöf, K. (2016). Adapting boreal streams to climate change: effects of riparian vegetation on water temperature and biological assemblages. *Freshwater sciences*, vol. 35, pp. 984-997.

Kreutzweiser, D. P. & Capell, S. S. (2001). Fine sediment deposition in streams after selective forest harvesting without riparian buffers. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, vol. 31, pp. 2134–2142.

Kreutzweiser, D. P., Sibley, P. K., Richardsson, J. S & Gordon, A. M. (2012). Introduction and a theoretical basis for using disturbance by forest management activities to sustain aquatic ecosystems. *Freshwater science*, vol. 31, pp. 224-231.

Kuglerová, L., Ågren, A., Jansson, R. & Laudon. H. (2014). Towards optimizing riparian buffer zones: Ecological and biogeochemical implications for forest management. *Forest Ecology and Management*, vol. 334, pp. 74–84.

Kuglerová, L., Hasselquist, E. M., Richardsson, J. S., Sponseller, R. A., Kreutzweiser, D. P. & Laudon, H. (2017). Management perspectives on *Aqua incognita*: Connectivity and cumulative effects of small natural and artificial streams in boreal forests. *Hydrological processes*, vol. 31, pp. 4238-4244.

Kuznetsova, A., Brockhoff, P. B., & Christensen, R.H.B. (2017). ImerTest Package: Tests in Linear Mixed Effects Models. *Journal of Statistical Software*, vol. 82, pp. 1–26.

Laudon, H., Kuglerová, L., Sponseller, R. A., Futter, M., Nordin, A., Bishop, K., Lundmark, T., Egnell, G. & Ågren, A. M. (2016). The role of biogeochemical hotspots, landscape heterogeneity, and hydrological connectivity for minimizing forestry effects on water quality. *Ambio*, vol. 45, pp 152–162.

Laudon, H. & Sponseller, R. A. (2017). How landscape organization and scale shape catchment hydrology and biogeochemistry: insights from a long-term catchment study. *WIREs water*, vol. 5, pp. 1-15.

Lee, P., Smyth, S. & Boutin, S. (2004). Quantitative review of riparian buffer width guidelines from Canada and the United States. *Journal of environmental management*, vol. 70, pp. 165-180.

Lenth, R. V. (2016). Least-Squares Means: The R Package Ismeans. *Journal of Statistical Software*, vol. 69, pp.1-33.

Lidman, J., Jonsson, M., Burrows, R. M., Bundschuh, M., & Sponseller, R. A. (2017). Composition of riparian litter input regulates organic matter decomposition: Implications for headwater stream functioning in a managed forest landscape. *Ecology and Evolution*, vol. 7, pp. 1068–1077.

Lindsay, J. B. (2016). Whitebox GAT: A case study in geomorphometric analysis. *Computers & Geosciences*, vol. 95, pp. 75-84.

Lovell S. T. & Sullivan, W. C. (2006). Environmental benefits of conservation buffers in the United States: Evidence, promise, and open questions. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment,* vol. 112, pp. 246-260.

Löfgren, S., Ring, E., Von Brömssen, C., Sörensen, R. & Högbom, L. (2009). Short-term effects of clear-cutting on the water chemistry of two boreal streams in northern Sweden: a paired catchment study. *Ambio*, vol. 38, pp. 347-56.

Mallik, A. U., Kreutzweiser, D. P. & Spalvieri, C. M. (2014). Forest regeneration in gaps seven years after partial harvesting in riparian buffers of boreal mixedwood streams. *Forest Ecology and Management*, vol. 312, pp. 117–128.

Musetta-Lambert, J., Muto, E., Kreutzweiser, D. & Sibley, P. (2017). Wildfire in boreal forest catchments influences leaf litter subsidies and consumer communities in streams: Implications for riparian management strategies. *Forest ecology and management*, vol. 391, pp. 29-41.

Naiman, R. J., & Décamps, H. (1997). The ecology of interfaces: riparian zones. *Annual Review* of Ecology and Systematics, vol. 28, pp. 621-658.

O'Callaghan, J. F. & Mark, D. M. (1984). The extraction of drainage networks from digital elevation data. *Computer vision, graphics and image processing*, vol. 28, pp. 323–344.

Olsson, J. (2009). Hänsyn till vattendrag. En fallstudie. Solna. Världsnaturfonden.

Pabst, R. J. and Spies, T. A. (1999). Structure and composition of unmanaged riparian forests in the coastal mountains of Oregon, U.S.A. *Canadian journal of forest research*, vol. 29, pp. 1557-1573.

Palik, B., Martin, M., Zenner, E., Blinn, C. & Kolka, R. (2012). Overstory and regeneration dynamics in riparian management zones of northern Minnesota forested watersheds. *Forest ecology and management*, vol. 271, pp. 1-9.

Pohjanmies, T., Eyvindsen, K., Triviño, M. & Mönkönen, M. (2017). More is more? Forest management allocation at different spatial scales to mitigate conflicts between ecosystem services. *Landscape ecology*, vol. 32, pp. 2337-2349.

R Core Team (2017). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. URL <u>http://www.R-project.org/.</u>

Richardson, J. S. & Danehy, R. J. (2007). A synthesis of the ecology of headwater streams and their riparian zones in temperate forests. *Forest Science*, vol. 53, pp. 131–147.

Richardsson, S. J., Naiman, R. J. & Bisson, P. A. (2012). How Did Fixed-Width Buffers Become Standard Practice for Protecting Freshwaters and Their Riparian Areas from Forest Harvest Practices? *Freshwater Science*, vol. 31, pp. 232–238.

Ring, E., Löfgren, S., Sandin, L., Högbom, L., Goedkoop, W. (2008). Forestry and water – A review. Skogforsk Redogörelse. Uppsala.

Ring, E., Johansson, J., Sandström, C., Bjarnadóttir. B., Finér, L., Lībiete, Z., Lode, E., Stupak, I. & Sætersdal, M. (2017a). Mapping policies for surface water protection zones on forest land in the Nordic–Baltic region: Large differences in prescriptiveness and zone width. *Ambio*, vol. 46, pp. 878-893.

Ring, E., Widenfalk, O., Jansson, G., Holmström, H., Högbom, L. & Sonesson, J. (2017b). Riparian forests along small streams on managed forest land in Sweden. *Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research*, vol. 33 pp. 133-146.

RStudio Team (2016). RStudio: Integrated Development for R (Version 0.99.896) RStudio, Inc., Boston, MA. Available at: http://www.rstudio.com/

Skogsstyrelsen. (2011). *Skogs- och miljöpolitiska mål- brister, orsaker och förslag på åtgärder*. Jönköping. Skogsstyrelsen. Meddelande 2. [http://shop.skogsstyrelsen.se/shop/9098/art25/8261025-50a813-1576.pdf]

Skogsstyrelsen. (2015). *Miljöhänsyn vid skogliga åtgärder*. Taberg. Skogsstyrelsen. Available at: [https://www.skogsstyrelsen.se/globalassets/aga-skog/miljohansyn/miljohansyn-vid-skogliga-atgarder-flipbok.pdf]

Skogsstyrelsen. (2016). *Nya och reviderade målbilder för god miljöhänsyn*. Jönköping. Skogsstyrelsen. Rapport 12. Available at: [https://www.skogsstyrelsen.se/globalassets/mer-om-skog/malbilder-for-god-miljohansyn/rapport-malbilder.pdf]

Skogsstyrelsen (2017). Skogsvårdslagstiftningen, gällande regler 1 april 2017 [The Forestry Act, regulations valid on 1 April 2017]. Jönköping. Skogsstyrelsen.

Statistiska centralbyrån (2014). *Statistisk årsbok för Sverige 2014*. Örebro. Statistiska centalbyrån. Available at: [http://www.scb.se/Statistik/_Publikationer/OV0904_2014A01_BR_00_A01BR1401.pdf]

Swanson, F. J., Franklin, J. F. (1992). New Forestry Principles from Ecosystem Analysis of Pacific Northwest Forests. *Ecological applications*, vol. 2, pp. 262-274.

Sweeney, B. W. & Newbold, J. D. (2014). Streamside forest buffer width needed to protect stream water quality, habitat, and organisms: a literature review. *Journal of the American Water Resources Association*, vol. 50, pp. 560-584.

Strahler, A. N. (1957). Quantitative analysis of watershed geomorphology. Transactions. *American Geophysical Union*, vol. 38, pp. 913–920.

Tiwari, T., Lundström, J., Kuglerová, L., Laudon, H., Öhman, K. & Ågren, A. M. (2016). Cost of riparian buffer zones: a comparison of hydrologically adapted site-specific riparian buffers with traditional fixed widths. *Water Resources Research*. vol. 52, pp. 1056–1069.

Valett, H. M., Crenshaw, C. L. & Wagner, P. F. (2002). Stream nutrient uptake, forest succession, and biogeochemical theory. *Ecology*, vol. 83, pp. 2888-2901.

Warren, D. R., Keeton, W. S., Kiffney, P. M., Kaylor, M. J., Bechtold, H. A. & Magee, J. (2016). Changing Forests – Changing Streams: Riparian forest stand development and ecosystem function in temperate headwaters. *Ecosphere*, vol.7, pp.1–19.

Wilkerson, E., Hagan, J. M., Siegel, D. & Whitman, A. A. (2006). The effectiveness of different buffer widths for protecting headwater stream temperature in Maine. *Forest Science*, vol. 52, pp. 221-231.

Ågren, A. M., Lidberg, W., Strömgren, M., Ogilvie, J. & Arp, P. A. (2014). Evaluating digital terrain indices for soil wetness mapping – a Swedish case study. *Hydrology and earth system sciences*, vol. 18, pp. 3623-3634.

Ågren, A. M., Lidberg, W. and Ring, E. (2015). Mapping Temporal Dynamics in a Forest Stream Network—Implications for Riparian Forest Management. *Forests*, vol. 6, pp. 2982–3001.

Östlund, L., Zackrisson, O. & Axelsson, A. L. (1997). The history and transformation of a Scandinavian boreal forest landscape since the 19th century. *Canadian journal of forest research*, vol. 27, pp. 1198-1206.

	~	1					
PROTOCOL							
Site name or code:				notes			
Date							
Name of surveyor							
Catchment area				estimated	from map	later	
Length (m) of the stream within harvest				estimated	l from map	later	
Coordinates lower							
Picture numbers (at least 5 pohotgraphs							
	Yes	No (why	not?)				
Surveys performed on 50 m stream length							
STREAM SURVEY							
Channel description	YES	NO					
Stream straight (% of reach)							
Stream meandering (% of reach)							
Stream breided							
Lake outlet							
Mire outlet				-			
	10 m mark	30m mark	50 m mark	Ban	kfull widt	h 🖌	
Stream bankful width in meters (estimated at three marks)							
Stream bankful depth (measured at three marks					* 7		
Type of flow (as % of the section up to the mark)				. <u>/</u>		Bankfull	
Riffle	2			/		acpui	
Rapid flow	1						
Slow flow	1						
No flow	/			stadning v	vater		
No water	r						
Bottom quality (as % of the section up to the mark)							
Fine sediment (including organic)							
Sand	I						
Gravel + pebbles	;						
Rocks + boulders	;						
Dead wood (# of pieces estimated in each sections)				1 piece > 2	L m and 10	cm diamet	er
Macrophytes abundayce (% of the reach - bryophytes and plants)							

Appendix 1. Rapid Assessment Survey protocol

RIPARIAN SURVEY	10 m	10 m mark		30m mark		50 m mark	
give separate descrition for left and right bansk (looking upstream) if applicable	Left bank	Right bank	Left bank	Right bank	Left bank	Right bank	
Buffer width in m (estimated as average within each section)							
Shading (estimated as % of the steam shaded in each section)							
Mature trees species composition (# estimated in each 10 m section)					-		
Coniferous							
Decidious							
Dominant species (name if you can)							
Saplings species composition (# estimated in each 10 m section)							
Coniferous							
Decidious							
Dominant species (name if you can)							
Understory composition (presence estimated in each section)							
Bryophytes							
Grasses and sedges							
Hebs							
	YES (ho	w many)	NO				
Discharge areas or soons within 20 m from the stream				discharge by observ running w	areas char ed standin ater in the	acterized g or riparian	
				zone or as	a small we	etiano	
IMPAIRMENTS	YES	NO					
Discharge areas or seeps harvested ?							
Discharge areas or seeps driven trhough?							
Soil preparation (scarrification or trenching) within 30 m from							
Partial harvest within riparian buffers?							
Impairments estimated in the entire 50 m section	Serious	Medium	Low	No marks			
Machine tracks (serious - numerous tracks within 30 m from the stream or a few tracks very deep; medium - a few tracks, not too deep; low - one or two shallow tracks)							
Increased siltation (serious - sediment deposition observed on > 50% of the sestion length, medium 20-50 % of the section legth, low < 20 % length)							
Stream crossing (serious - stream crossing present withough a bridge, medium - stream crossing with temporal bridge, low - stream crossing with permanent bridge or culvert)							
Blown down trees (serious - many, medium - a few, low - 1-2 trees blown down)							
Increased errosion(serious - errosion marks observed on > 50% of the sestion length, medium 20-50 % of the section legth, low < 20 % length)							
Alga blooms (serious - blooms observed on > 50% of the sestion length, medium 20-50 % of the section legth, low < 20 % length							

SENASTE UTGIVNA NUMMER

2016:3	Författare: Pia Sundvall Kväverikt spillvatten från sprängämnesproduktion – potentiell råvara i gödsel?
2016:4	Författare: Marcus Larsson Betydelsen av krukstorlek, odlingstäthet och planteringspunkt vid etablering och tillväxt hos täckrotsplantor – Analys av Jackpot & Powerpot
2016:5	Författare: Elin Kollberg Tidiga tillväxteffekter av kvävetillförsel på SeedPAD och plantor
2016:6	Författare: Lukas Holmström Restoration of degraded tropical rainforests through gap and line planting: Effects on soil and light conditions and seedling performance
2016:7	Författare: Lina Edgren Naturvård och efterbehandling i Masugnsbyns dolomittäkt
2017:1	Författare: Johan Åhs The influence of precipitation and nitrogen fertilization on aboveground tree growth and how this varies across small-scale microtopography gradients in <i>Pinus sylvestris</i> stands in northern Sweden
2017:2	Författare: Joshua Johansson Utvärdering av en markvattenmodells förmåga att estimera markfuktighet och bärighet
2017:3	Författare: Stina Köppler Skogen som integrationsarena – kopplingen mellan svensk skogsnäring och integration
2017:4	Författare: Kristina Nilsson Överlevnad, tillväxt och snytbaggeskador i fält hos långnattsbehandlade ettåriga tallplantor med dubbelbarr
2017:5	Författare: Maria Jakobsson Naturlig föryngring efter brand – Fyra trädarters etablering i relation till mikromiljö och spridningsavstånd på Salabrännan
2017:6	Författare: Erik Sköld Lönsamhet vid fröträdsavverkningar på torvmark i östra Småland
2017:7	Författare: Anna Bergqvist Skogsbrukets brandskötsel. En intervju-undersökning utförd i Västerbotten år 2006
2018:1	Författare: Gustav Nord Tillväxteffekter för tall 33 år efter konventionell gallring och gödsling
2018:2	Författare: Felicia Dahlgren Lidman The Nitrogen fixation by cyanobacteria associated to feathermosses - A comparison between Scots pine and Norway spruce stands
2018:3	Författare: Hanna Glöd Forest drainage effects on tree growth in Northern Sweden. – Developing guidelines for ditch network maintenance

Hela förteckningen på utgivna nummer hittar du på www.seksko.slu.se